# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 95,116

HENRY P. SIRECI,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JULIUS J. AULISIO Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0561304

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 3801 Corporex Park Dr. Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 (813) 740-3544

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 27, 1976, the grand jury of Orange County, Florida, returned an indictment charging Mr. Sireci with first degree murder in the death of Howard Poteet (V.1, R.2) An arrest warrant arising out of the same circumstances was consolidated with the indictment (V.1, R.4) Mr. Sireci entered a plea of not guilty (V. 1, R. 12)

Mr. Sireci's case proceeded to jury trial on October 18, 1976 (V. 1, R. 169). The jury returned a verdict of guilty of first degree murder (V. 1, R. 196). The jury recommended death for the murder and the trial court imposed a death sentence (V. 2, R. 299) This sentence of death was ultimately vacated by the trial court and upheld by the Florida Supreme Court. Sireci v. State, 536 So. 2d 231 (Fla. 1988).

A new sentencing trial was held before a jury on April 9-20, 1990 and the jury recommended death by a vote of 11 to 1 (V. 26, RR. 3271). On May 4, 1990 the trial court sentenced Mr. Sireci to death (V. 24, RR. 2657). On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Sireci's conviction and sentence.

Sireci v. State, 587 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 1991). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari. Sireci v. Florida, 112 S. Ct. 1500 (1992).

Mr. Sireci filed his initial Rule 3.850 motion challenging his resentencing on June 21, 1993. Mr. Sireci filed amended Rule 3.850 motions on March 23, 1994, April 18, 1995, and August 21, 1997 (V. 2, PC-R. 147). This is Mr. Sireci's first post-

conviction action stemming from his resentencing.

The state filed its answer to the motion to vacate judgments of convictions and sentences on February 2, 1998 (V. 3, PC-R. 193-259).

On January 21, 1999, Judge Richard F. Conrad presided over a <a href="Huff"><u>Huff</u></a> hearing held on the 3.850 postconviction motion (V. 1, PC-R. 1-35). Judge Conrad, without granting an evidentiary hearing, summarily denied Mr. Sireci's Rule 3.850 postconviction motion on February 9, 1999 (V. 4, PC-R. 415-446). Mr. Sireci timely filed his notice of appeal on March 10, 1999 (V. 4, PC-R. 448-449).

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. Florida's sentencing scheme denied Mr. Sireci his right to due process of law and constitutes cruel and unusual punishment. The language "especially heinous atrocious and cruel" is unconstitutionally vague. The jury was not instructed that there must be intent on the part of the defendant. The trial court erred in finding the aggravating factor of avoiding arrest because avoiding arrest was not the dominant motive for the killing.
- 2. The trial court erred in denying relief where the jury was not instructed that in order to find the aggravating factor pecuniary gain, pecuniary gain had to be the primary motive. It was error to find the existence of cold, calculated and premeditated where the jury was not instructed on the requirement of heightened premeditation.

- 3. The prior convictions used to support this aggravator were unconstitutionally obtained because Mr. Sireci did not have the ability to make a knowing and intelligent waiver of his constitutional rights. It was error to use the prior felony conviction to support every other aggravating circumstance.
- 4. Use of the felony murder aggravator of the crime being committed during the course of a robbery failed to narrow the class of persons eligible for the death penalty, and resulted in an unconstitutional sentence.
- 5. The aggravating factor of cold calculated and premeditated came into effect well after the commission of this offense and is a violation of the ex post facto clause of the Florida and United States Constitutions.
- 6. There is newly discovered evidence which points to Appellant's innocence. Appellant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing because the trial judge did not even review the trial record. There was no way for the trial court to know if the record conclusively refuted these claims.
- 7. The trial court erred in denying relief on the claim that the jury should have been waived for resentencing. The jury was inherently prejudiced because they learned that Mr. Sireci was previously on death row. To make matters worse, Mr. Sireci was made to appear in court in leg shackles. There is no way of knowing the impact of these errors on the jury because the Florida Bar Code of Ethics prevents Appellant's lawyers from contacting the jurors.

- 8. The trial court should have granted a new sentencing because of the error of jurors considering non-statutory aggravating factors. This error is not harmless when considered with the cumulative impact of the other errors presented to the trial court.
- 9. The trial court erred in denying Appellant and evidentiary hearing to establish that he did not receive effective mental health expert assistance. Although mental health professionals evaluated Mr. Sireci, they did not explain to the jury, in terms which lay persons could understand, how Appellant's mental health problems impacted the crime. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to provide the experts with necessary background information on Mr. Sireci to support their findings and present this mitigation to the jury.
- 10. Because questions were raised regarding the procedures followed by the forensic laboratory, all forensic evidence should be retested under now available DNA procedures which are much more accurate and reliable.
- 11. The instructions to the jury improperly diminished their sense of responsibility in rendering a verdict. Mr. Sireci did not receive effective assistance of counsel when no objection was posed to this jury instruction.
- 12. Execution by electrocution as mandated by Florida Statute is cruel and unusual punishment under the Florida and United States Constitutions.
  - 13. Mr. Sireci was denied a fair trial because of the

pervasive and prejudicial publicity surrounding his original trial. Relief should be granted at this time because it was fundamental error for the court not to change venue in this case. At the very least, Mr. Sireci should be afforded an evidentiary hearing and access to the jurors to establish that relief is proper.

14. Although each of the aforementioned errors considered individually may be harmless, the cumulative effect of all of the errors, when weighed together, establish harmful error which at the very least establishes the need for an evidentiary hearing.

#### **ARGUMENTS**

#### ARGUMENT I

FLORIDA'S STATUTE ON THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES IN A CAPITAL CASE IS FACIALLY VAGUE AND OVERBROAD IN VIOLATION OF THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS. THE JURY DID NOT RECEIVE ADEQUATE NARROWING CONSTRUCTIONS TO CURE THE INVALIDITY OF THE STATUTE.

This argument encompasses issues raised in claims II, III, V and VII of the motion to vacate. Florida's capital sentencing scheme denied Mr. Sireci his right to due process of law, and constitutes cruel and unusual punishment on its face and as applied in this case. It did not prevent the arbitrary imposition of the death penalty and narrow the application of the death penalty to the worst offenders. See Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242 (1976).

The capital sentencing statute in Florida fails to provide any standard of proof for insuring that aggravating circumstances

"outweigh" the mitigating factors, and does not define

"sufficient aggravating circumstances." Mullaney v. Wilbur, 421

U.S. 684 (1975) Further, the statute does not sufficiently define for consideration each of the aggravating circumstances listed in the statute. See Godfrey v. Georgia, 446 U.S. 420 (1980). These deficiencies lead to the arbitrary and capricious imposition of the death penalty and violate the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Richmond v. Lewis, 113 S. Ct. 528 (1992).

The aggravating circumstances in the Florida capital sentencing statute have been applied in a vague and inconsistent manner, and juries receive unconstitutionally vague instructions on the aggravating circumstances. See Godfrey v. Georgia;

Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1079, 112 S. Ct. 2926 (1992). To the extent trial counsel did not properly preserve this claim,

Mr. Sireci received ineffective assistance of counsel.

There is no serious argument that the language "especially heinous, atrocious, cruel or depraved" is not facially vague.

Richmond v. Lewis 506 U. S. 40, 47 (1992) Florida's statutory language "especially heinous, atrocious or cruel" is facially vague and overbroad in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992). Florida 's statute has only been able to pass constitutional muster where a narrowing construction has been established as in State v. Dixon 283 So. 2d 1, (Fla. 1973). However, simply adopting a narrowing construction is not enough. Where the statute is on its face vague and overbroad, as in this case, the narrowing construction

must be applied by the sentencer in order to cure the facial defect. Richmond v. Lewis, 506 U.S. at 48.

The Florida Supreme Court requires that the jury be instructed that the defendant must intend to inflict a high degree of pain or to torture. Failure to instruct the jury that it must find intent results in an unconstitutional sentence under the Eighth Amendment. Stein v. State, 632 So. 2d 1361 (Fla. 1994). In Stein, this Court struck the heinous, atrocious and cruel aggravator where no evidence was presented to demonstrate Steins' intent to inflict a high degree of pain or to otherwise torture the victims. The factor of heinous, atrocious and cruel is proper only in torturous murders, where evidence of extreme and outrageous depravity as exemplified either by the desire to inflict a high degree of pain or utter indifference to or enjoyment of the suffering of another. Cheshire v. State, 568 So. 2d 908, 912 (Fla. 1990)

The trial court's order acknowledged that the defense claimed that multiple stab wounds suggest an uncontrolled frenzy which was a product of brain damage. Defense experts testified that such frenzy could result once the defendant began stabbing the victim (V. 13, RR. 1589). There certainly was not proof beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant had a desire to inflict a high degree of pain and a tortuous death which would more likely occur from fewer knife wounds resulting in a slow painful bleeding to death. More likely, the multiple stab wounds were the product of a psychotic frenzy.

This Court has held that in order to prevent "mechanical application" of aggravating factors, the "avoiding arrest" aggravating factor applies only where it is clearly shown that the dominant or sole motive for the murder was the elimination of a witness.

Menendez v. State 368 So. 2d 1278, 1282 (Fla. 1979). The trial court found the aggravating factor of avoiding arrest to be present in this case. Under the state's theory of the case, the murder was committed for financial gain. The evidence presented showed that Appellant went to the car lot to steal a car, or in a light favorable to the state, to take money from the victim. At most, it was only an afterthought to kill the victim to avoid arrest. Thus, avoiding arrest could not have been the sole or dominant motive for the killing.

#### ARGUMENT II

APPELLANT'S SENTENCE OF DEATH VIOLATES THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION BECAUSE OF THE IMPROPER APPLICATION OF THE AGGRAVATING FACTORS OF FINANCIAL GAIN AND THE CRIME WAS COMMITTED IN A COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED MANNER.

This argument encompasses issues raised in claims IV, VI, and VII of the motion to vacate. The jury in Mr. Sireci's case was instructed that they could find as an aggravating factor that the murder was committed for the purposes of financial gain.

Trial counsel did argue that the statute which allows this aggravator is unconstitutional because it fails to narrow the

class of persons eligible for the death penalty. However counsel failed to point out the argument set forth in the motion to vacate judgment and sentence that this Court has held that the "pecuniary gain" aggravating factor applies only where pecuniary gain is shown to be the primary motive for the murder. <a href="Peek v. State">Peek v.</a>
State, 395 So. 2d 492, 499 (Fla. 1981); <a href="Small v. State">Small v. State</a>, 533 So. 2d 1137, 1142 (Fla. 1988). Without this limitation, the statute setting forth the "pecuniary gain" aggravating factor is facially vague and overbroad because it fails to adequately inform the sentencer what must be found for the aggravator to be present.

No such limiting instruction was provided to the jury in this case. The instruction provided in this case violates Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992); Stringer v. Black, 503 U.S. 1079 (1992); Sochor v. Florida, 504 U.S. 527 (1992); Maynard v. Cartwright, 486 U.S. 356 (1988), and the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. The "financial gain" aggravating instruction is not only vague under the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and the State did not prove that the primary motive for the crime with which Mr. Sireci was accused was pecuniary gain. The jury must be given adequate and constitutional instructions since it is part of the sentencing calculus. Johnson v. Singletary, 612 So. 2d 575 (Fla. 1993). Here, this Court requires that the finding of "pecuniary gain" as an aggravating circumstance must be limited to those crimes where financial gain was the primary motive. The instructions given to the jury did not include this

language. As a result, the jury found two mutualy exclusive aggravating factors, avoiding arrest and financial gain. In order for these factors to exist, they must be the sole or dominant or primary reason for the killing. Thus the particular reason must be at least 51 % or greater basis for the killing. If avoiding arrest was greater than 51 % of the reason for the killing, then financial gain cannot also be greater than 51 % of the reason for the killing and vice versa. Therefore if one of these aggravators is found to exist the other one is automatically excluded.

The trial court failed to instruct the jury in Mr. Sireci's case as to the limitations of the "cold, calculated" aggravator required by the Florida Supreme Court. Not only did the trial court fail to give the adequate narrowing instruction, but the state failed to prove the existence of this aggravator beyond a reasonable doubt. There was insufficient evidence to support the finding of this aggravating circumstance.

The Florida Supreme Court in recognizing the vagueness of the "cold, calculated and premeditated" aggravator has required that it must be narrowed by adopting a "heightened premeditation" standard to distinguish this aggravator from the first degree murder element of premeditation. Hamblen v. State, 527 So. 2d 800, 805 (Fla. 1988). The jury was never told that "heightened premeditation" must exist before this aggravator can be found. The trial court did not apply this "heightened premeditation" standard when it found this aggravator. Such instruction violates Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992); Stringer v.

Black, 503 U.S. 222 (1992); Sochor v. Florida, 504 U.S. 527 (1992); Maynard v. Cartwright, 486 U.S. 356 (1988), and the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

This issue was objected to by counsel at trial. At the jury instruction conference Mr. West raised an objection to the instruction:

MR. WEST: YOU ARE -- RATHER THAN ARTICULATING OBJECTIONS TO THE COURT'S RULINGS, MAY I HAVE A STANDING OBJECTION TO THOSE INSTRUCTIONS THAT ARE DENIED THAT BY FAILING TO PROPERLY INSTRUCT THE JURY, IT RENDERS THEIR SENTENCING PROCESS UNRELIABLE AND VIOLATES THE 5TH, 6TH 8TH AND 14TH AMENDMENTS?

THE COURT: YOU MAY HAVE SUCH A STANDING OBJECTION.

(V. 16, RR. 2328). An alternative instruction was proposed by Mr. Sireci and rejected by the circuit court (V. 26, RR. 3143-44).

This instruction was objected to at trial and raised on direct appeal to the Florida Supreme Court. The criteria to allow this Court's consideration as set out in <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 684 So. 2d 85 (Fla. 1994) have been met. The jury as a cosentencer, must be instructed with constitutional instructions. <u>Johnson v. Singletary</u>, 612 So. 2d 575 (Fla. 1993); <u>Jackson</u>, 684 So. 2d 85 (Fla 1994). The failure of the trial court to properly and constitutionally instruct this jury requires relief.

The jury relied upon improper jury instructions regarding aggravating factors in arriving at the recommendation of death.

The error is not harmless. The failure of trial and appellate counsel to raise this issue is ineffective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. See Starr v. Lockhart, 23 F.3d 1280 (8th Cir. 1994). The trial court erred in denying Appellant relief in the form of a new sentencing hearing.

#### ARGUMENT III

THE PRIOR CONVICTIONS USED TO SUPPORT THE FINDING OF "PRIOR CONVICTION OF A VIOLENT FELONY" AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE WERE UNCONSTITUTIONALLY OBTAINED, INADMISSIBLE TO SUPPORT THIS AGGRAVATOR UNDER THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AND WERE IMPROPERLY USED TO SUPPORT EVERY OTHER AGGRAVATOR.

This argument encompasses issues raised in claims VIII and IX of the motion to vacate. The prior convictions introduced to support the "prior conviction of a violent felony" were obtained in violation of the United States Constitution and were used to support this aggravating circumstance in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

Testimony of Dr. Lewis and Dr. Pincus was introduced at the resentencing plainly showed that Mr. Sireci did not have the ability to make any knowing and intelligent waiver of any constitutional right. Any plea of guilty to any offense made by Mr. Sireci is unconstitutional because he could not make the necessary waiver of his constitutional rights. Boyd v. Dutton, 405 U.S. 1 (1972); Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238 (1969); Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458 (1938).

The plea of quilty by Mr. Sireci in the John Leonard Short

offense is unconstitutional. Mr. Sireci's mental condition prevented him from making a knowing and intelligent plea of guilty on the homicide of John Short. The unconstitutional prior conviction cannot be used to support the sentence of death in this matter. Johnson v. Mississippi, 486 U.S. 578 (1988). It was also improper to use this conviction in the Short case because the plea was not entered until after Mr. Sireci was sentenced on the Poteet case. This conviction was not used at the original sentencing because it did not exist at the time. Mr. Sireci was successful in obtaining a new sentencing. To use this conviction, which occurred after the original sentencing but was based on actions of Mr. Sireci prior to the Poteet murder, would violate the tenants of North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711 (1969), that a defendant should not be placed in a worse position after remand from a successful appeal.

The use of the unconstitutional prior conviction is even more egregious since the trial court used it when he found every other aggravating circumstance, including the "prior conviction of a violent felony" aggravator. This error can never be deemed harmless because the entire sentence of death rests on this prior conviction. The trial court used the prior convictions to support his findings on each of the aggravating circumstance. The failure of trial counsel to present this issue, based on Mr. Sireci's mental state, violated his right to effective assistance of counsel. The use of the prior conviction to support Mr. Sireci's sentence of death is a violation of the Eighth and

Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. The 3.850 motion must be granted.

Two separate aggravating factors cannot be supported or based upon a single fact. Provence v. State, 337 So. 2d 783 (Fla. 1976). The evidence concerning these prior crimes was admitted by the state only to prove the existence of the "prior conviction of a violent felony." This evidence was admitted for no other purpose. It was certainly not admitted to prove each and every other aggravating circumstance.

The use of these crimes to support aggravators other than the "prior conviction of a violent felony" violates Williams v. State, 110 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1959). This is also a violation of Fla. Stat. §90.404. Each aggravating circumstance found by the trial court was based upon the same set of facts — the robbery of Eddie Nelson and the murder of John Short. This multiple counting of the same facts also violates the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153 (1976); Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242 (1976). Relief is warranted.

## ARGUMENT IV

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