#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HENRY PERRY SIRECI,

Appellant,

vs. CASE NO. 95,116

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

# ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE

Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0802743
Westwood center
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR STATE OF FLORIDA

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I--Appellant's claims questioning the constitutionality of various aggravating factors in this case are procedurally barred from review. Such challenges either were or should have been raised on direct appeal. Appellant cannot use a motion for post-conviction relief as a second direct appeal.

ISSUE II--The trial court properly found that appellant's challenges to the financial gain and cold, calculated and premeditated aggravators are procedurally barred from review in this Rule 3.850 motion.

ISSUE III--Appellant's challenge to his prior murder and robbery convictions is procedurally barred from review because he failed to raise this claim on direct appeal. Moreover, simply because a separate challenge to a prior conviction is pending does not prohibit the State from using the prior conviction as an aggravating circumstance.

Appellant's claim that separate aggravators were improperly based upon a single fact is procedurally barred from review. This issue should have been raised, if at all, on direct appeal.

ISSUE IV--This Court has repeatedly rejected similar constitutional challenges to the commission during the course of an enumerated felony aggravator.

ISSUE V--This issue was raised and addressed by this Court on direct appeal. Consequently, the trial court properly found this issue procedurally barred from review in this motion for post-conviction relief.

ISSUE VI--The trial court properly denied this claim below because appellant failed to show due diligence in raising this post-conviction claim based upon newly discovered evidence. Further, the trial court recognized that there is no reasonable probability that this so-called "newly discovered" evidence would change the verdict in this case.

ISSUE VII--Appellant's claim that the trial court erred in refusing to accept a waiver of the jury recommendation was raised on direct appeal and rejected by this Court. Similarly, appellant raised the prosecutor's reference to his death row status on direct appeal. Consequently, appellant is procedurally barred from raising these issues again in a motion for post-conviction relief.

ISSUE VIII--Admission of evidence establishing appellant's lack of remorse was raised on direct appeal before this Court. The trial court's summary denial of this claim was appropriate because a motion for post-conviction relief is not the forum to criticize a prior opinion of this Court.

ISSUE IX--The trial court found that appellant received

comprehensive mental health examinations prior to the resentencing hearing. Appellant has not identified any significant deficiencies in the examinations conducted below.

ISSUE X--Appellant does not specifically identify the alleged deficiencies in the forensic testing conducted in this case. Moreover, this claim is time barred because appellant failed to show due diligence in raising it before the lower court.

ISSUE XI--The jury instructions did not improperly diminish the jury's role in the sentencing hearing. Further, this claim is procedurally barred from review as it should have been raised, if at all, at trial and on direct appeal.

ISSUE XII--This Court has repeatedly rejected the argument that death by electrocution constitutes cruel and unusual punishment under the Florida and United States Constitutions.

ISSUE XIII--This issue is procedurally barred because it should have been raised, if at all, in appellant's first motion for post-conviction relief. Moreover, counsel's choice of venue is clearly the kind of strategic decision that is largely immune from post-conviction attack.

ISSUE XIV--Appellant's claim that the trial court did not consider his mitigating evidence was raised on direct appeal and rejected by this Court. Consequently, he is precluded from raising

this issue again in a motion for post-conviction relief.

ISSUE XV--Appellant fails to allege sufficient facts to support his claim that his trial was fraught with error. Consequently, the trial court properly denied this claim without a hearing.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### Preliminary Statement On Applicable Legal Standards

1) Standards of Review on the Summary Denial of Post-Conviction Relief

In Anderson v. State, 627 So. 2d 1170, 1171 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 834, 116 L.Ed. 2d 83, 112 S.Ct. 114 (1994), this Court observed that "[t]o support summary denial without a hearing, a trial court must either state its rationale in its decision or attach those specific parts of the record that refute each claim presented in the motion." However, an evidentiary hearing is not a matter of right, a defendant must present "'apparently substantial meritorious claims'" in order to warrant a hearing. State v. Barber, 301 So. 2d 7, 10 (Fla.), rehearing denied, 701 So. 2d 10 (Fla. 1974) (quoting State v. Weeks, 166 So. 2d 892 (Fla. 1960)).

#### 2) Procedural Bar

Matters which either were raised or could have been raised on direct appeal or previous post-conviction proceedings are procedurally barred on collateral review. It is well settled that a Rule 3.850 motion is not a substitute for, nor does it constitute a second direct appeal. "[A] Rule 3.850 motion based upon grounds which either were or could have been raised as issues on appeal may be summarily denied." McCrae v. State, 437 So.2d 1388, 1390 (Fla.

1983)(string citations omitted). See generally Parker v. State, 718 So.2d 744 (Fla. 1998), cert. denied, 143 L.Ed.2d 675, 119 S.Ct. 1580 (1984)(claims procedurally barred on second 3.850 motion for failure to object at trial, for having raised issue on direct appeal, or for having raised issues in prior motions or petitions); Maharaj v. State, 684 So.2d 726 (Fla. 1996)(Post-conviction relief petitioner's claims which were either raised or could have been raised on direct appeal were properly denied without an evidentiary hearing); Engle v. Dugger, 576 So.2d 696, 702 (Fla. 1991)(claim that the trial court failed to provide a factual basis to support imposition of death sentence was "procedurally barred because it should have been raised on the appeal from resentencing."). Accord Cherry v. State, 659 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1995); Medina v. State, 573 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1990); Clark v. State, 690 So.2d 1280 (Fla. 1997).

Any attempt by a defendant to avoid the application of a procedural bar by simply recasting a previously raised claim under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel is not generally successful. See Sireci v. State, 469 So.2d 119, 120 (Fla. 1985)("[c]laims previously raised on direct appeal will not be heard on a motion for post-conviction relief simply because those claims are raised under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel.") "Procedural bars repeatedly have been upheld as valid

where properly applied to ensure the finality of cases in which issues were or could have been raised." <u>Atkins v. State</u>, 663 So.2d 624, 627 (Fla. 1995).

#### ISSUE I

WHETHER FLORIDA'S STATUTE ON THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES IN A CAPITAL CASE IS FACIALLY VAGUE AND OVERBROAD IN VIOLATION OF THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS. WHETHER THE JURY DID NOT RECEIVE ADEQUATE NARROWING CONSTRUCTIONS TO CURE THE INVALIDITY OF THE STATUTE.

Appellant coalesces several of his separate claims below into his first issue on appeal before this Court. As appellant acknowledges in his brief, the issues raised closely resemble three claims made below before Judge Conrad. However, appellant omits any argument as to how the trial court erred in finding these issues procedurally barred from review.

The propriety of compressing various claims raised below into one appellate issue is, in the State's view, somewhat questionable. Of course, if the issue as now presented or compressed has materially changed from that before the trial court, the issue as now presented is barred from review. See Archer v. State, 613 So.2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1993)(for an issue "to be preserved for appeal . . it 'must be presented to the lower court and the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal must be part of that presentation if it is to be considered preserved for appellate review.'" (quoting Tillman v. State, 471 So.2d 32, 35 (Fla. 1985)).

Judge Conrad found appellant's claims that the statutory aggravating circumstances are unconstitutionally vague and over broad and that the jury did not receive an appropriate limiting instruction were procedurally barred. (V. IV at 418). Judge Conrad summarily disposed of this issue because it either was or should have been raised on direct appeal. In his order denying post-conviction relief, Judge Conrad stated:

In fact, the Defendant states in his Motion that it was raised on direct appeal. Thus, it is procedurally barred and cannot be raised in a motion for post-conviction relief. See Mikenas v. State, 460 So.2d 359 (Fla. 1984).

 $(V. IV at 418)^5.$ 

Similarly, Judge Conrad found appellant's constitutional attack upon the heinous, atrocious, and cruel instruction in this case was not properly raised in appellant's Rule 3.850 motion. Judge Conrad observed that this issue should have been raised on direct appeal and therefore "cannot be raised in a motion for post-conviction relief." (citation omitted). (V. IV at 418).

The State also notes that any attack upon the heinous,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> <u>See</u> Appellant's Amended Motion for Post-Conviction Relief at Volume II pgs. 49-50. "On direct appeal, Mr. Sireci challenged the application of the facially vague and over broad Florida death penalty statute as to him since the jury was instructed on aggravating factors which were not applicable under the law and since the jury was without guidance so as to know that the inapplicable aggravators should not be weighed against the mitigation presented.[]" [footnote omitted].

atrocious, or cruel aggravator applied to the facts of this case is devoid of any merit.<sup>6</sup> In <u>Davis v. State</u>, 648 So.2d 107, 109 (Fla. 1994), <u>cert. denied</u>, 516 U.S. 827, 133 L.Ed.2d 50, 116 S.Ct. 94 (1994), this Court stated:

Even if this issue was not barred, it is without merit. This Court has consistently upheld a finding of heinous, atrocious, or cruel where the victim was repeatedly stabbed. <a href="Derrick v. State">Derrick v. State</a>, 641 So.2d 378 (Fla. 1994); <a href="Atwater v. State">Atwater v. State</a>, 626 So.2d 1325, 1329 (Fla. 1993), <a href="Cert.denied">Cert.denied</a>, <a href="U.S.">U.S.</a>, 114 S.Ct. 1578, 128 L.Ed.2d 221 (1994); <a href="Hansbrough v. State">Hansbrough v. State</a>, 509 So.2d 1081, 1086 (Fla. 1987); <a href="Nibert v. State">Nibert v. State</a>, 508 So.2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1987).

Appellate defense counsel summarily argues that to the extent "trial counsel did not properly preserve this claim, Mr. Sireci received ineffective assistance of counsel." (Appellant's Brief at 6). However, Judge Conrad noted below in denying this claim: "...Defendant concedes in his Motion that defense counsel duly objected to this aggravating circumstance and that the vagueness of section 921.141, Florida Statutes, was presented to both the trial court and the Florida Supreme Court." (V. IV at 419). See Sireci v. State, 587 So.2d 450, 454 (Fla. 1991)("Sireci's claim that section 921.141, Florida Statutes (1987), is unconstitutional on

The State noted below: "Although Sireci correctly asserted that defense counsel objected to the wording of this statutory aggravating circumstance, Sireci neglected to inform this Court that defense counsel requested and received a special narrowed instruction. (R 2542-43)." (V. III at 202).

its face and as applied is without merit."). Further, Judge Conrad noted:

...the record indicates that defense counsel strenuously argued this point and made corresponding argument that the jury instructions were vague. (R. 2335-2336, 2345-2347, 2438, 2440, 2542-2543, 2975-2989, and 3002-3006). More importantly, defense counsel requested a special jury instruction which expanded on the language contained in the standard jury instruction and the Court granted that request. The expanded instruction was given. (R. 2895). This instruction was more extensive than that approved in Hall v. State, 614 So.2d 473 (Fla.), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 834, 114 S.Ct. 109, 126 L.Ed.2d 74 (1993).

Thus, Judge Conrad concluded that "defense counsel was not ineffective. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)." Id.

Appellant finally contends under Issue One, that the Ninth Judicial Circuit Court erred in instructing the jury on the avoiding arrest aggravator and/or that the State failed to present sufficient evidence to establish this factor. (Appellant's Brief at 6). Judge Conrad also found this claim procedurally barred from review, noting that this claim "should have been raised on direct appeal..." (V. IV at 420).

Appellant complains that the Ninth Judicial Circuit Court should not have found the avoiding arrest aggravator to be present in this case. (Appellant's Brief at 8). Judge Conrad properly found that this issue was procedurally barred as it was raised on

direct appeal. Appellant's brief on appeal appears to simply reargue the merits of claims found procedurally barred below. He does not attempt to show how the trial court's summary disposition on the basis of procedural bar was in any way improper. The trial court's ruling in this case is supported by the record and should be affirmed by this Court.

During the robbery of Eddie Nelson in 1970 the Defendant told Nelson he was going to have to kill him to keep him from identifying him. It is not clear if this was just a threat to scare the victim or if he was prevented from carrying out his threat by the arrival of another customer but it is clear that his subsequent arrest and conviction of the robbery was the result of the victims identifying him to the police.

After the robbery of John Short he told Barbara Perkins he killed Short to keep him from identifying him and wished he knew the identity of a customer who saw him so he could kill him to keep him from being a witness.

Subsequent to the murder of Howard Poteet the Defendant told David Wilson, Detective Arbisi and Harvey Woodall that Poteet was killed to keep him from being a witness. The defense contention that the statements suggest confabulation is not convincingly based upon the evidence. (V. III at 348).

Appellant argues that the murder of Mr. Poteet was "only an after thought" and therefore his elimination as a witness was not a significant motive. However, the Ninth Judicial Circuit Court noted the following in its sentencing order:

#### ISSUE II

WHETHER APPELLANT'S SENTENCE OF DEATH VIOLATES THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION BECAUSE OF IMPROPER APPLICATION OF THE AGGRAVATING FACTORS OF FINANCIAL GAIN AND THE CRIME WAS COMMITTED IN Α COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED MANNER.

Appellant again combines several issues below into one assignment of error before this Court. Again, however, these issues concerning the application of aggravating circumstances either were or should have been raised on direct appeal from appellant's resentencing. Consequently, these issues are procedurally barred from consideration in this post-conviction appeal.

Appellant contends that the jury was not properly provided a "pecuniary gain" limiting instruction in this case. He maintains that use of this aggravator is improper unless it is the primary motive for the murder. Once again, Judge Conrad found that this issue should have been raised, if at all, on direct appeal. Failure to raise this issue on direct appeal, operated to bar this claim for post-conviction relief below. (V. IV at 420).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Further, this issue lacks any merit. As the State pointed out below: "With respect to the proper application of the aggravating circumstance, the Supreme Court of Florida has clearly held that both the pecuniary gain and avoiding arrest factors may be applied in a given case and are not mutually inconsistent. Thompson v.

Judge Conrad correctly held that the challenge to the jury instruction on the "cold, calculated" aggravator was procedurally barred because it was raised on direct appeal. (V. IV at 421). Again, a motion for post-conviction relief is a collateral attack upon a conviction and is not the proper forum to litigate direct appeal issues.

While appellant maintains that the criteria for this court's review of the issue has been met by an objection below and an appeal to this Court (Appellant's Brief at 11), appellant forgets that a post-conviction proceeding is not simply a second direct appeal. It is a collateral attack upon a conviction or sentence. Moreover, the objection raised on direct appeal from the resentencing was that application of this aggravator violated the

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>State</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S632 (Fla. November 23, 1994) [648 So.2d 692, 695]." (V. III at 208).

 $<sup>^{9}</sup>$  The State's Response in this case correctly noted the following:

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